
News from the Balshaw’s Archive 

An education for all 

Balshaw’s has always exceeded expectation and limitation by aspiration and determination. From its lowly 

beginnings as a charitable school set up in 1782 for the education of “children of the poor of this (Leyland) parish”1 

and accepting girls for education from 1790, Balshaw’s has always bucked the inequities of the world and became a 

trail blazer not only for gender equality throughout its history but also resisted the attempt to make it a “middle class 

school” by a Mr. Tootell in the 1890s. He was vehemently rebuffed by a Balshaw’s trustee, Mr Stanning, who claimed 

that the intention of Richard Balshaw was always to provide education for free to the children of the poor of Leyland 

and now education was free to all by virtue of the 1870 Education Act, Balshaw’s should provide a higher education 

for the children of the working classes of Leyland: 

“The very flower of the working classes,” he said, “were willing to make sacrifices for the benefit of their 

children and now they had a chance of higher education would perhaps be able to send their children to 

colleges and University”. He added, “that his father had made sacrifices for him and he wished every man 

imbued with that spirit.”2 

And so it was that the Charitable School on Golden Hill Lane began to provide an education that would enable its 

students to take examinations.  This sort of school became known as a Grammar School after 1898. 

Meanwhile, the old Grammar School, on the corner of the church yard of St. Andrews Church, by contrast had 

dwindling numbers and in “1865 a critical report from the Enquiry Commission stated amongst other things ‘reading 

and spelling were not very good…Geography and English grammar were poor.’ The writing was on the wall” 3 and nine 

years later the school closed in 1874. Despite the recommendations of the Schools’ Inspector, Mr. James Bryce, in 

1865 that Balshaw’s should merge with the Grammar School, the trustees of Balshaw’s repeatedly resisted a merger 

because they were well-run and better endowed financially than the Grammar School.  However, petitions were 

guaranteed, finally, by the Education Department in 1897 and by Queen Victoria in Council in May, 18984 and the 

merger took place. 

 Although locally The Golden Hill School was known as 

“Balshaw’s Grammar,” the transformation of Balshaw’s to a 

“proper” Grammar School didn’t happen until the move from 

Golden Hill Lane to Church Road was completed.  The Church Road 

site was planned in 1928 and built by 1931 to be opened to 

students – both girls and boys – in 1932.  

Trailblazing for gender equality in 1932 

This mixed education, though still separate in the classroom, was 

at this time extremely unusual and to offer examinations to both 

genders was almost unheard of for a public (with a small p) school 

until at least after the 1944 Education Act. The role of Balshavian 

girls and the Old Balshavians, not only academically but also in 

local sports leagues, is notable. Balshaw’s Grammar School Old 

Girls were “the ones to beat”5 and dramatically won the 

Lancashire Central Women’s Hockey League from 1931 to 1934 

against opposition as hallowed as the Dick Kerr Ladies. 

Steve Bolton, whose Granny played football for the Dick Kerr 

Ladies throughout the 1930s, is currently writing a book about this 

                                                           
1 George Birtall, Balshaw’s School 1782-1982, p 12. 
2 ibid 
3 https://lancashirepast.com/2015/09/05/leylands-tudor-grammar-school-south-ribble-museum/ 
4 Raymond N. Cash, A History of Leyland Free Grammar School 1524-1874, (May, 1967), p 84. 
5 Mark Evans (Hockey researcher for the Hockey Museum, Woking) in conversation with Naomi Breen, July 2020. 

Letter from Max Gelder donating his mother’s Balshaw’s 
Grammar School blazer badge circa 1914 

https://lancashirepast.com/2015/09/05/leylands-tudor-grammar-school-south-ribble-museum/


period not only of their football, but their foré into hockey.6 He contacted Balshaw’s and Dr. Breen provided some of 

the archival documents relating to the school’s hockey seasons in the 1930s and he stated that “Balshaw’s…GSOGs 

were so fundamental to starting and running the league.”7 Liv Cooke, football trickster and recent Balshaw’s Old Girl, 

has obviously come from a long line of strong female sports stars. It will be the centenary of the 1921 F.A. ban of 

Women’s Football next year; thus, recent growth in interest in women’s football in the modern game has a long 

rebellious history in Lancashire as the superstar teams lie the Dick-Kerr Ladies were renowned internationally in the 

1920s and 30s. The archive revealed Balshaw’s link to this history over and over.  

 

 

                                                           
6 https://www.playingpasts.co.uk/articles/football/lily-parramateur-cricketer-hockey-player-footballermy-tribute-to-my-granny-
lizzy-ashcrofts-great-friend/ 
7 Steve Bolton, Women’s Hockey in the 1930s Project Update, 11th July, 2020. 

1931-32 cup-winning team 
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A full set of the Lancashire Central Ladies’ Hockey League Champions Badges from 1933-34 donated to the school archive 
by the Lingards. 



 

The Balshavian Magazine, Spring Term 1934. 

 



 

The Balshavian Magazine, Summer Term, 1934. 

It is amazing the connection the ex-pupils of Balshaw’s have to their old school: like the school’s old motto STRENUE 

(strength). From far and wide the Old Balshavian’s send in their school badges, caps, sashes, school books and 

mementoes. Perhaps this is less surprising when one ex-pupil wrote into school to say she had found the receipt 

from her mother’s personal effects for the Balshaw’s uniform for her and her brother from 1948. It came to a grand 

total of £30, 15 shillings and 8d which is £1,128.26p in today’s money!  

  

Boater sash & Boys’ school cap (unknown date, circa 1930s due to the change in motto from STRENUE to Non Sibi Sed Aliis – Not for 

themselves but for others) 



 

 

Balshaw’s Exercise Books and Rough Book from 1904. Donated to the School Archive by Mrs Maureen Nickson of Lostock Hall. 

Travels in Nazi Germany and beyond 

Balshavians were always well-travelled but some of the accounts of their travels that appeared in the Balshavian 

magazine are beyond belief. The school visited Naples and Pompeii in summer 1935 and there was the account of a 

cycling tour through Nazi Germany in the 1936 edition of the Balshavian Magazine! This article is extremely objective 

and positive in terms of the German people as a whole although the knowledge of concentration camps and coercive 

government is also acknowledged which seems astonishing of the time. There are accounts of trips to the Middle 

East by boat, as well as a year in the United States, motor cycling through Hungary and Czechoslovakia and holidays 

in France and Belgium to name but a few. There were also annual school camps to Derwent Water as well as farm 

camps in the summer holidays throughout the war where Balshaw’s students volunteered to work the harvest for 

the war effort every August. 



 

 



Before moving to Berkshire to be near her son, Judith Todd brought various items to the school to donate for the 

archive including exercise books, her domestic science recipe book from 1947 and an apron she had hand sewn in 

1949. She said the blue and green floral sections of the patchwork apron actually came from the summer uniform of 

the Balshaw’s girls from the 1930s! (see below) She shared her memories of the school with Dr. Breen and the 

Headteacher, Mr. Steven Haycocks, in 2019; especially her memories of how the charity work the school did (and still 

does) was central to the school and she said that Leyland raised enough money during the Second World War to buy 

a battleship for the British Navy! Along with Leyland Senior Council School, Balshaw’s were the top for fund-raising 

for Warship Week in Scheme 1 in March, 1942. 

  



  

 

Judith Todd’s Apron, Domestic Science & Textiles Exercise books, 1947. 

There are so many “finds” from the archive that are as yet undiscovered but not for much longer. We will keep you 

updated on the process of publication to the Balshaw’s School Website and also repeat the request to have a look 

through your old school things to see if there’s anything you’d like to add to the school archives. 

 


